# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC. and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Employer/Carrier/Petitioner,

vs .

PABLO MARTINEZ,

Employee/Respondent.

Consolidated Case No. 75,663

MAR 19 1990

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC. and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Employer/Carrier/Petitioner,

vs .

MARIO NAVARRO,

Employee/Respondent.

## BRIEF ON JURISDICTION OF PETITIONERS AND APPENDIX

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

Judith J. Flanders
Florida Bar No. 558842
IANE, TROHN, CLARKE,
BERIRAND & WILLIAMS, P.A.
Post Office Box 3
Iakeland, FL 33802-0003
(813) 688-7944
Attorneys for Petitioners

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The employees were injured while pushing a disabled automobile off the road and claimed workers' compensation benefits. On basically undisputed facts, the Judge of Compensation Claims considered the principles of law in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974) and Turcotte v. Fowler & Torrance Concrete & Masonry, 507 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and determined that he was compelled under the facts to find that at the time of the employees' injuries they had deviated from the course and scope of their employment and, therefore, denied the employees claim for workers' compensation benefits.

The employees appealed and the DCA found in the opinion in the Appendix that Rockhaulers, Inc. v. Davis, 554 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), a case decided by the DCA after the briefs of the parties were submitted, was dispositive of the compensability issue and reversed the decision of the JCC. The E/C had no opportunity to point out to the DCA that the circumstances in Rockhaulers were clearly distinguishable from the facts here in that when the employees here went to help the motorists no accident had yet occurred, no one had been injured, and no "true emergency" had arisen as it had in Rockhaulers. In a footnote, the DCA summarily dismissed this court's holding in Murphy as being factually dissimilar.

The E/C timely filed on March 8, 1990 their notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of this court on the basis of the express and direct conflict provision of article V, section 3(b) (3) of the Florida Constitution.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction of this case under the provisions of article V, section 3(b) (3) of the Florida Constitution because the DCA's opinion in this case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Murphy v. Peninsular Life Insurance Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974), because the DCA applied a rule of law to substantially the same controlling facts and produced a different result from that reached by this Court in Murphy.

In both cases the employees' employment brought them to the place of observing a motorist experiencing difficulty with his vehicle. In both cases the motorists requested assistance from the employees. In both cases there had been no accident nor had anyone been injured at the time the employees went to the assistance of the motorists. In both cases the employees were injured in the process of attempting to render assistance to the motorists. In Murphy, this Court determined that the injuries sustained by that employee were not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of fulfill — the duties of his employment whereas in this case, under essentially the same controlling facts, the DCA held that the employees' actions were required by ordinary standards of humanity and were altogether reasonable and expected under the circumstances.

To decline to review the decision in **this** case and to resolve the express and direct conflict in these cases will create confusion and instability **in** Florida law which the provisions **in** article V, section 3(b)(3) are designed to prevent or, at least, to keep to an absolute minimum.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN MURPHY V. PENINSULAR LIFE INSURANCE CO., 299 SO.2D 3 (FLA. 1974) SO AS TO INVOKE THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(b) (3) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Florida Supreme Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that . . expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. See also, Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a) (2)(A)(iv).

The principal situations in which direct conflict jurisdiction of this Court has been found is where there was alleged conflict in (1) announcement of a rule of law which conflicted with the rule previously announced by the Supreme court or (2) the district court of appeal has applied a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case disposed of by the Supreme Court. See, e.g., Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960). The E/C recognize that since the 1980 revision of the Florida Constitution a conflict must be express as well as direct and that "express" means the conflict must be evidenced from within the four corners of the opinions alleged to be in conflict. See Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986). The E/C believe that when the facts contained in this DCA opinion are compared with the facts given in the Murphy decision it will become abundantly clear that the opinion in this case expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decision in Murphy since the DCA has clearly applied a rule of law to produce a different result in this *case* from that reached by the Supreme court in <u>Murphy</u> even though the cases involved substantially the *same* controlling facts.

The real issue in the cases on appeal, as it was in Murphy, is under what circumstances an employee's assistance to a stranger is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his fulfilling the duties of his employment so that an injury suffered by the employee during such assistance may properly be determined to have arisen out of and in the course of his employment. In the Murphy decision and in the opinion under consideration, the courts considered the positional risk doctrine enunciated in O'Leary v. Brown-Pacific-Maxon, Inc., 340 U.S. 504, 71 S.Ct. 470, 95 L.Ed. 483 (1951), where the court held that for an injury occurring during the "rescue" of a stranger to be compensable it must be a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his fulfilling the duties of the employment.

The DCA's decision here turns on its finding that the employees' employment brought them upon the scene of a true emergency where a rescue attempt was required for ordinary standards of humanity so that the employees' actions in assisting the two stranded motorists were altogether reasonable and expected behavior under the circumstances. It is clear, however, when the facts in the DCA opinion are compared with the facts in Murphy that the situation in Murphy could be more appropriately described as a true emergency requiring a rescue attempt by ordinary human standards than was true in the situation here. Thus, in comparing these two cases it will be unclear to a casual reader, much less to someone attempting to study these cases in an effort to determine

what the law in Florida is regarding the compensability of injuries suffered during assistance to a stranger and will have the effect of creating confusion and instability in the workers' compensation law of this state.

It is clear that here, as in <u>Murphy</u>, the employees' employment brought them to the place where they observed the occasion for assisting a stranger. Here, as in <u>Murphy</u>, the employees were apparently the first to encounter the motorists with an impaired vehicle. Here, as in <u>Murphy</u>, the motorists requested the employees' assistance. Here, as in <u>Murphy</u>, no accident had occurred and no one had been injured at the time the employees were injured while attempting to render assistance to the motorists.

In <u>Murphy</u>, specifically, the <u>employee encountered</u> a heavy duty truck with its brakes failing, standing motionless, facing up an incline portion of the road. The truck driver called to the <u>employee asking</u> the <u>employee</u> to place blocks under the tires of the truck in an apparent effort to keep the truck from rolling back down the incline. The <u>employee</u> was injured while attempting to assist the truck driver as requested. Under the above described circumstances, this Court held that the injury to the <u>employee</u> was not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his fulfilling the duties of his employment. In spite of the above described factual similarities between this case and <u>Murphy</u>, the DCA in a footnote, stated that it had considered the decision in <u>Murphy</u> but found it factually dissimilar. The <u>employer/carrier</u> contend, however, that if any factual dissimilarity exists between the cases on appeal and <u>Murphy</u>,

it is that the unaccompanied driver in Murphy was in greater need of assistance than were the two motorists with the disabled vehicle particularly since the record and the DCA opinion both reflect the two motorists in this case were already in the process of removing the vehicle from the highway. While the assistance the employees attempted to render in this case certainly would have enabled the motorists to move the vehicle off the road more quickly, there is no indication in the opinion, in the record, nor in common sense why the two motorists alone would have been unable to quickly **push** the vehicle out of the readway thus quickly removing the danger posed to other travelers without any assistance from the employees in this case. There is no information in the opinion nor in the record that either the disabled vehicle or the two motorists or any travelers, for that matter, were in danger at the time the employees decided to leave the safety of the grove and to cross over into the highway to assist the two motorists who were already in the process of pushing the disabled vehicle off the mad. Rather, it is clear that the assistance rendered by the employees here was not only unnecessary in order to remove the hazard the stalled vehicle may have posed to other travelers, it certainly was not required by ordinary standards of human behavior.

Moreover, by any standard of common sense, it seems indisputable that a heavy duty truck with failed brakes rolling down an incline with no means by which the driver could control the speed of the truck posed a much greater danger, not only to other travelers, but also to the driver himself who was faced with immediate danger to his life and person with no other person to assist him. If the situation in the case on appeal

constituted a "true emergency" which made the actions of the employees in the case on appeal reasonable and expected behavior under the circumstances, it is impossible to understand how the actions of the employee in Murphy were unforeseeable in the situation facing him. It is also impossible to discern why a "rescue" attempt was required by "ordinary standards of humanity" here so as to make the actions of these employees reasonable and expected behavior but did not require a rescue attempt by ordinary standards of humanity so as to make the actions of the employee in Murphy reasonable and expected behavior under the circumstances described in Murphy. If, as the DCA contends, the Murphy case is factually dissimilar from the case here, it is only to the extent that the vehicle in the situation described in Murphy posed a greater hazard to travelers than did the stalled vehicle in this case and the additional fact that the driver in Murphy was himself facing danger to his life or person whereas there was no indication that the two motorists in this case faced any danger to themselves. Thus, the attempted assistance in Murphy was a much more foreseeable consequence of his fulfilling the duties of his employment than was true of the actions of the employees in this case. There is clearly conflict between the opinions, and certainly the results, when this Court in Murphy found the injury suffered by that employee as being an unforeseeable consequence of his fulfilling his duties of employment and the DCA's opinion in this case finding the employees' actions were altogether reasonable and expected behavior under the circumstances.

Except for the fact that the circumstances encountered by the employee in <u>Murphy</u> obviously came much closer to constituting a "true

emergency" requiring an attempted rescue by ordinary human standards, the facts in Murphy are very similar, if not on all fours, with the situation here so that it is clear that the DCA here has considered the positional risk doctrine, as did this Court in Murphy, applied it to very similar facts and reached exactly the opposite result from that reached by this court. This should not be. District courts of appeal have a duty to follow prior decisions of this Court which have not been overruled. See, e.g., McPhee v. Dade County, 362 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). District courts of appeal have no authority to overrule a decision of the Supreme Court and any departure from principles decided by the Supreme Court should be at the hand of the Supreme Court. Reaves v. L. W. Rozzo, Inc., 286 So.2d 221 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973). The decision of the appellate court in this case on its face improperly collides with this Court's prior decision in Murphy in such a way that if Murphy had originally been decided by the First District Court of Appeal, the District Court's decision in this case on the same point of law would be tantamount to the First District's overruling its prior decision in Murphy. Such conflict is the type of direct conflict which justifies this Court's review of a district court's decision to avoid a situation which will only generate confusion and conflict among precedent. See Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962).

As this court recently observed in <u>Leon County school Board v.</u>

<u>Grimes</u>, 548 So.2d 205 (Fla. 1989), the Workers' Compensation Act provides no relief from injuries not produced by industry nor is it designed to take the place of general health and accident **insurance**. Clearly it was not the intent of the legislature that **employers who come** within the

provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act should be insurers of the safety of their employees at all times regardless of the nature of the employee's activities nor their reason for engaging in those activities. Rather, it is clear that by inserting the "arising out of and in the course of employment" provision in the act, the Florida Legislature intended that industry would pay for injuries that were caused by industry, but not be responsible for those that were **not**. Should this Court decline to accept jurisdiction to review the decision in this case this will only encourage the courts of appeal to ignore Supreme Court precedent on the same legal issue by simply adding a footnote to its opinion that it has considered the Supreme Court precedent and found it factually dissimilar when it clearly is not, and will leave unclear the issue of under what circumstances in Florida workers' compensation cases injuries suffered during assistance to a stranger are a foreseeable consequence of an employee's fulfilling the duties of his employment so as to justify a finding that the injuries arose out of and in the course of that employee's employment. It will also have the effect of once again saddling industry, which is already reeling under the spiraling costs of the workers' compensation program, with the burden of paying for an injury which is unquestionably a very tragic injury which quite properly evokes sympathy from everyone but which really is not the result of industry because the injuries in this case were not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the employees fulfilling the duties of their employment.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction in this case because the First District Court of Appeal's decision in this case not only directly, but expressly conflicts with this Court's decision in Murphy v. peninsular Life Insurance Co. It is clear that both the First District in this case and this Court in Murphy considered the positional risk doctrine with its criteria for determining when injuries suffered during the rescue of or assistance to a stranger is a reasonably foreseeable consequence of an employee's fulfilling the duties of his employment and that the First District applied that doctrine to virtually the same set of fads present in Murphy and reached an opposite result by choosing to ignore this Court's holding in Murphy while at the same time relying on a recent decision of its own (Rockhaulers) which in itself is clearly distinguishable on its facts from the situation here. To allow such a situation to go unreviewed and uncorrected will only create additional confusion in the workers' compensation law and invite the district courts of appeal to disregard the rule of stare decisis which in turn will contribute to undermining the stability not only desired but necessary to the proper and orderly functioning of this state's legal system.