IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC., and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

PABLO MARTINEZ,

Respondent.

D. L. CULLIFER AND SON, INC., and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

MARIO NAVARRO,

Respondent.

Consolidated Case No. 75,663

SID J. WHITE

APR 9 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COLETA

Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION
On Notice to Invoke Discretionary (Conflict)
Jurisdiction to Review Decision of the
First District Court of Appeal

RICHARD A. KUPFER, ESQ.

ISSUE

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN MURPHY V PENINSULAR LIFE INSURANCE CO., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Statement of Facts in Petitioner's brief needs to be supplemented.

To begin with, the Petitioner states on the first page of its brief that it had no opportunity to explain to the First DCA why the Rockhaulers, Inc. case is distinguishable from this one. That is not correct. After the briefs were filed and the Rockhaulers case was later cited by the employees as a supplemental authority supporting their position, the Petitioner/Employer filed a response with the First DCA explaining why it believed the Rockhaulers case is distinguishable. A copy of that response (under the title of a Motion to Strike) is attached as an Appendix to this brief.

The employees did not "leave the safety of the grove" (as stated in Petitioner's brief at p. 6) in order to assist in pushing the disabled vehicle off the roadway. When they came upon the disabled vehicle they were already walking along the other side of the same roadway toward a truck that was waiting for them. It was during the early evening (at about 8:00 p.m.). The employees were on a special errand (after normal working hours) trying to find one of the employer's fruit tubs that had been left in the grove on the previous day. They were unable to find it and they were then returning to the truck waiting for them on the side of the road. One of the injured employees, Martinez (the crew leader), still had to drive some of the other workers home in the company bus where they were waiting for him to return. In order to help push the disabled car off the road they deviated no more than about 20 feet

from their path back to the truck. From the time they walked across the road to offer assistance until the moment of impact was estimated to be about two minutes.

Petitioner states in its brief (at p. 6) that both the DCA opinion and the record reflect that the two stranded motorists were already in the process of removing their vehicle from the highway when the employees came across them. That is not correct. What the record and the DCA opinion reflect is that the motorists had broken down in a dangerous spot, it was beginning to get dark, and they needed and asked for help to remove the car from the road. One of the employees (Navarro) testified that the two motorists "were trying to push their car." One of them was inside the car steering it as the others joined them and began pushing it. Although the DCA opinion does not mention it, the disabled car broke down on the crest of a hill and was being pushed on an upgrade incline.

As a result of the accident Martinez has become a C-4 quadriplegic and Navarro suffered a comminuted displaced fracture of the tibia and fibula in his right leg.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the various reasons discussed infra, the district court below was justified in expressly finding material differences between the facts of this case and the facts in the <u>Murphy</u> case. Since the facts are different the result is not inconsistent and there is no express and direct conflict with <u>Murphy</u>.

ARGUMENT

The Petitioner's brief concludes with the statement that the district court below reached its decision "by choosing to ignore this court's holding in Murphy." To the contrary, the district court's opinion expressly states (in the footnote at the end of the opinion): "We have considered Murphy v Peninsular Life Ins. Co., 299 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974), and find it factually dissimilar."

There is no express and direct conflict with <u>Murphy</u> and no jurisdiction to review this case unless it can be said that, in finding the facts distinguishable, the district court clearly abused its discretion since no reasonable person could arrive at such a conclusion. See **Kyle** v Kyle, infra.

The district court below was justified in finding the facts of this case to be dissimilar to those in <u>Murphy</u>, and the <u>Murphy</u> case does not stand for the proposition that an injury suffered by an employee during a rescue attempt is never compensable.

There is no question in this case that the employees were on a special errand for the employer, they were definitely within the course and scope of employment while they were walking along the side of the road to return to the truck waiting for them, and the only issue is whether they substantially deviated from their employment by walking twenty feet out of their way to push the disabled vehicle (a potential menace to traffic) off the road.

The <u>Murphy</u> case, supra, did not involve a claimant who was on a special errand for the employer. Before Murphy got out of his car to help a truck driver he was on his way home in his own car with a co-employee, on a public highway nowhere near his usual jobsite. There is no indication that he was within the scope of his employment even before he exited his vehicle (due to the "going and coming rule"). Unlike Murphy, the employees in the present case did not stop their vehicle and get out to render non-emergency assistance. They were literally walking right by the scene of a potentially dangerous situation and they were merely asked to take two minutes to help push a car off the highway.

Petitioners overstate the emergency nature of the Murphy case and understate the emergency nature of the facts in the present In Murphy a heavy duty truck was "standing motionless, facing up an inclined portion of the road." Murphy, supra at 4. It was not rolling down a hill as Petitioner's suggest, nor was the truck driver "faced with immediate danger to his life" as Petitioners suggest. It was simply motionless and there is nothing in the opinion to imply it could not be easily seen by other motorists. Moreover, what Murphy did in that case (climbing up on top of the truck to throw blocks down to the truck driver and then jumping off the top of the truck) was much different and far less foreseeable to the employer than what the employees did here when they merely acquiesced to help push a stalled car off the road (with the help of other men). In Murphy this court simply stated that the injury in that case "was not a reasonably foreseeable consequence of fulfilling the duties of employment." Id. at 4. That does not mean the same is true in every other case involving a rescue attempt.

The <u>Murphy</u> opinion does not indicate there was any emergency or danger to anyone. Moreover, one of the considerations stated in <u>Murphy</u> was whether the courts should "make every street over which a workman might ride a zone of special danger." <u>Id.</u> at 4. However in the present case the injury did not just happen anywhere on the street. It happened on the highway immediately in front of the employees' job site (the grove in which they were working).

If these employees were not on a special errand for the employer and walking along the highway in front of their worksite, these devastating injuries would not have befallen them. The nexus to the actual worksite is much closer here than it was in <u>Murphy</u>. Moreover, there is more of a deviation in a case like <u>Murphy</u> where a motorist stops his car, gets out and climbs on top of a truck, than in the present case where an employee is simply walking past a disabled car blocking a highway and takes a few steps out of his way to help push it off the road.

Petitioner argues that the facts of this case did not present a true emergency because no accident had yet happened when the employees came across the stalled vehicle. However, that does not mean it did not constitute a traffic hazard two minutes before the accident actually happened. The reason the employees were helping was because they were asked to and it was obviously a dangerous situation, and unfortunately the potential danger became a reality before the vehicle could be completely removed from the highway. The fact that this was indeed an emergency and a dangerous situation is best illustrated by the collision that actually

occurred while the employees were trying to remove the hazard.

There is no conflict here with the <u>Murphy</u> case because this case involves an emergency situation and not just gratuitous assistance offered to a stranger in a non-exigent setting. This is a unique situation that will not frequently occur, but when it does an employee should certainly have the benevolent protection of the workers' compensation laws in doing the natural and humane thing when confronted with a true emergency involving a third person in distress who calls out for help.

The evidence here was uncontradicted that the employer had never instructed his employees to suppress their natural instincts if they come across someone who needs and asks for their help in an emergency situation. This type of conduct was never discouraged in any way by the employer. Unless an employer has expressly prohibited such conduct, an employee should not have to pause to reflect on whether he may be jeopardizing his employee status by offering the kind of emergency assistance that the employees offered in this case. This should in no way be construed as an abandonment of the special errand the employees were pursuing on behalf of the employer, and the Murphy case does not require such a finding of an abandonment in this case. Otherwise it would certainly be contrary to the remedial purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act. See Great American Ind. Co. v Williams, 85 So. 2d 619 (Fla. 1956). The employees in this case were doing nothing that they had any reason to believe their employer would not condone and, from their perspective, maintaining good public

relations and good will is usually in an employer's interest.

If the <u>Murphy</u> case stood for the inflexible proposition argued by the Petitioners, then the <u>Murphy</u> case would be in conflict with several other previous and subsequent decisions entered by this court including one that was entered in the same year as <u>Murphy</u>.

In Taylor v Dixie Plywood Co. of Miami, Inc., 297 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1974), this court held that when a claimant is on the highway and engaged in a special mission for the employer, a slight deviation does not preclude an accident from being compensable unless the deviation is "unreasonable and unjustifiable under the circumstances." In the <u>Taylor</u> case the claimant deviated several blocks from the most direct route to his destination in order to drive by his house for personal reasons. This court found that the deviation in that case was not so substantial and unreasonable as to amount to an abandonment and preclude workers' compensation benefits. (In the present case the deviation was only about twenty feet and lasted for two minutes.) For other similar holdings from this court, see Zipperer v Peninsular Life Ins. Co., 235 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1970); Evans v Food Fair Stores, Inc.. 313 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1975) and Julian v Port Everslades Terminal, 135 So.2d 423 Moreover, in civil tort cases the common law has long 1961). recognized the doctrine that "danger invites rescue."

Simply because the deviation in the <u>Murphy</u> case (even if he was within the scope of employment to begin with while he was driving home) was found to be an unforeseeable consequence of employment under the circumstances of that case does not mean the

present case is in conflict. What the employees did in the present case is something that could reasonably be expected by the employer in the absence of giving contrary instructions to his employees. These type of expressions of human nature are incidents that are inherent whenever people work together, and they are entirely foreseeable. As the First DCA stated in a recent case similar to this one:

The type of action taken by claimant was reasonable and expected behavior. • • In Murphy on the other hand, the kind of action taken by the claimant could not have been expected.

Rockhaulers, Inc. v Davis, 554 \$0,2d 654, 656 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

In the present case, as in <u>Rockhaulers</u>, supra, the district court considered the factual setting to create a sufficient emergency, and considered the employees actions to be "altogether reasonable and expected behavior under the circumstances" so as to permit the claimants to recover workers compensation benefits. That does not expressly conflict with <u>Murphy</u>. It applies the same rule to a different set of facts and reaches a result that is <u>not</u> inconsistent with <u>Murphy</u>. It does not create any confusion or instability in the law that would call for the exercise of this court's discretionary review. As this court stated in <u>Kvle v Kvle</u>, 139 \$0.2d 885 (Fla. 1962):

The test of our [conflict] jurisdiction in such situations is not measured simply by our view regarding the correctness of the court of appeal decision. . . . We have said that conflict must be such that if the latter decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter.

[citation omitted]. If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements. • • then no conflict can arise.

Id. at 887.

The district court below expressly found the controlling facts of this case to be distinguishable from Murphy. Although Petitioner disagrees with that conclusion, that does not mean it creates uncertainty in the decisional law of this state. This case does not present a proper occasion for this court's exercise of discretionary jurisdiction and the Petition for Review should be denied.

CONCLUSION

In view of the foregoing it is respectfully submitted that this court is without jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal for lack of an "express and direct conflict" as that phrase has been applied by this court in the past. The Petition for Review should be denied.

Moreover, this court should grant the Respondents' separately filed motion for appellate attorney's fees pursuant to Sections 440.34 (3)(c) and (5), Florida Statutes (1987), as the First DCA did in the appeal from which the Petitioner now seeks further review.